### **RECEIVED**

03-15-2016

## STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2013AP2100-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JULIUS ALFONSO COLEMAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Jeffrey Wagner, Presiding.

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

DUSTIN C. HASKELL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1071804

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4807 haskelld@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

### **

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

While in custody, Julius Coleman was interviewed twice by police. During the first interview, Mr. Coleman was never advised of his *Miranda* rights, but he and the detective discussed the evidence against him as well as how he might become an informant. One hour after that interview ended, he was brought back to the interrogation room at his request, read his *Miranda* rights, and he made a statement concerning the events leading to his arrest.

Should the circuit court have suppressed the contents of the first interrogation because Mr. Coleman was never advised of his *Miranda* rights? And should the circuit court have suppressed the contents of the second interrogation as an unlawful continuation of the first, even though he was advised of his rights?

The circuit court ruled that the first interview was not an interrogation, so it denied suppression.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The United States Supreme Court has held that in some circumstances, a *Miranda* violation at a first interview may require suppression of subsequent statements, even after the *Miranda* warnings are given. *Missouri v. Seibert*, 542 U.S. 600 (2004). There was no majority opinion in that case. A four-justice plurality and Justice Anthony Kennedy produced competing tests to determine when suppression is required. No Wisconsin case has adopted either test. Publication is appropriate to adopt one of the competing tests, and to provide guidance by applying the proper test.

Although counsel believes this issue can be addressed adequately in briefing, he welcomes the opportunity for oral argument if the court believes it would be helpful.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In May 2011, Corey Long was facing criminal charges for possessing cocaine and marijuana. (89:73, 117-18). While those charges were pending, he made a deal with the State to help uncover criminal activity in exchange for dismissing the charges against him. (89:74-75, 118-19). While assisting law enforcement, Mr. Long began communicating with the defendant, Julius Coleman, about a possible armed robbery.

Mr. Coleman called Mr. Long and asked whether Mr. Long knew anyone he could rob. (89:122). Mr. Long said they could rob, Poncho, a drug dealer. (89:122). Poncho did not exist; Mr. Long made him up in order to make Mr. Coleman believe there was someone they could rob. (89:122). Over the next three weeks, police recorded a series of phone calls and meetings between Mr. Long and Mr. Coleman, during which they discussed plans to rob Poncho at his home. (2:3-4). In the recordings, Mr. Coleman can be heard saying he had guns that could be used for the robbery. (2:3-4).

On June 9, 2011, Mr. Coleman drove two other individuals in his red Monte Carlo to meet Mr. Long and commit the robbery. (91:124). Mr. Long drove them all to a parking lot, from which they could access Poncho's house. (89:148). As part of their plan, Mr. Long got out of the van so that he could go to Poncho's house and make sure the coast was clear. (89:113, 115).

After Mr. Long got out, police surrounded the van with a "tactical team" of 15-16 officers, and a BearCat, "an

armored vehicle," originally designed for military use. (93:16). Police deployed two "flash-bang" grenades, intended to disorient anyone in the van, then shot out the windows of the van with rubber bullets. (93:19-20, 30). Police then arrested the three occupants. (93:24).

#### First Interrogation

Mr. Coleman was brought to the Wauwatosa Police Department, where he was interviewed twice by then-Detective Robin Schumacher. During the first interview, the detective confirmed Mr. Coleman's name and background, then asked if he had any questions for her. (18:1; 113-11:29:34). After confirming that he had been arrested for possessing a firearm as a felon, the detective told him that there could be some "leeway" on his charges "as long as we have a little level of honesty." (18:2; App. 163).

Instead of advising Mr. Coleman of his *Miranda*<sup>3</sup> rights before going further, the detective went on to discuss the need for Mr. Coleman to be honest about the events leading to the arrest if he wanted to be an informant. She

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Detective Schumacher has since been convicted of felony misconduct in public office for stealing drugs from the police department evidence room. Jesse Garza, *Wauwatosa Detective Sentenced for Drug Theft*, http://www.jsonline.com/news/crime/wauwatosa-detective-sentenc ed-for-drug-theft-b99298767z1-264515021.html (last visited Mar. 14, 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Audio-visual recordings of the interrogations are included on a disc in the appellate court record. (113). The disc contains two folders. The folder labeled 20160104-170207 includes Mr. Coleman's first interrogation (beginning at 11:15:33). The folder labeled 20160104-175411 includes the second interrogation (beginning at 13:22:58). Record citations to the recordings in this brief will be to the timestamp on the audio-visual recording.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

explained that she could only justify working with him "based on the level of cooperation and honesty" he displayed during their interview. (18:3; App. 164). She explained that as consideration for his "weapons violation" he "would have to come up with something violent." (18:4-5; App. 165-66).

Their conversation about becoming an informant eventually merged into a discussion of the events leading to Mr. Coleman's arrest. The detective explained that the recorded calls with Mr. Long suggested he was going to be involved in a very violent offense, so police had to stop him. (18:5; App. 166). Mr. Coleman explained that he just wanted his mother protected if he cooperated with police. (18:5; App. 166). He then admitted his guilt, stating "I made a mistake you know what I'm sayin'? You guys got me. Got my phone conversation." (18:6; 113-11:43:35; App. 167). He also reiterated that he wanted to cooperate to mitigate any punishment for the recent offense. (18:6; App. 167).

About 25 minutes after the interview started, the detective said she needed to read Mr. Coleman his rights, like from the TV show COPS. (18:8; App. 169). Before she began reading those rights, Mr. Coleman asked if his girlfriend could get her car back. (18:8; App. 169). Instead of waiting until after the *Miranda* warnings to start discussing the case again, she answered that that was a "good stepping stone," then complained about Mr. Coleman hiding a key. (18:8; App. 169). She continued, and asked Mr. Coleman a direct question about the offense: "I think a sign of good faith would be like, ok, I'll get you that car back—I mean, there's no other weapons in that car?" (113-11:49:02). On the recording, Mr. Coleman appears to shake his head, and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The detective, in a whispering voice seemingly intended to imitate the show, stated, "you have the right to remain silent," before Mr. Coleman asked his question. (113-11:48:20).

detective said, "OK, that was like a half truth." (113-11:49:11). Mr. Coleman then answered her, saying, "No, ain't nothing in that car." (113-11:49:13). The detective then told him: "If we don't need it—if there's no evidence in there, there's really no need, as long as you're cooperative, for me to hold onto that car. If you half-truth it, then yeah, you know, I'm going to make it inconvenient. You want to make my life inconvenient, I'm going to make your life inconvenient." (18:8; 113-11:49:22; App. 169).

The detective continued to talk about how he might be able to earn credit, and how she would have to "sell" using him as an informant to her boss. (18:9; App. 170). He was concerned about still having some time over "[his] head," regardless of how many people he helped turn over. (113-11:52:30). The detective disagreed, noting he might be able to avoid time in custody if he could "dazzle" her with information about other criminal activity." (113-11:52:35).

Mr. Coleman then began discussing the lack of evidence against him, pointing out that there were only recorded phone calls. (18:9-10; App. 170-71). The detective still failed to read the *Miranda* warnings. Instead, they kept talking about the evidence in the case, leading to Mr. Coleman saying he was only facing a charge of conspiracy:

Det. Schumacher: But there's two charges though.

There's the felon in possession of a

firearm-

Mr. Coleman: That one's being dropped.

Det. Schumacher: Five year minimum. Would never

be dropped. Because the surveillance. Remember, remember, we were there. Remember that's

how we got your car.

Mr. Coleman:

Exactly. But do the surveillance present Julius Coleman with the firearm. The back windows have tint. The front windows have tint. I mean the two front ones.

(113:11:46:45). He then kept talking about how police never saw him with a gun, and she responded that she saw him "coming from the Monte Carlo to the van," when he met up with Mr. Long on the way to the robbery. (113-11:57:33).

Going further, Detective Schumacher told Mr. Coleman that the two codefendants would probably make statements implicating him: "First of all, what I, what I truly enjoy about it is you're forgetting that there's two other gentlemen that are on probation that you think are going to be honorable men." (113-11:58:45). Mr. Coleman briefly interrupted her and said something that cannot be discerned on the recording, then she continued, "And who do you think is going to say whose weapon that is? And whose—and who said it was his own weapon on his own phone? You." (113-11:59:02).

She then summarized more of the evidence against him: "I know where you're coming from; I get it. I don't blame you for talking your way through it. I don't blame you for wanting to know a little bit more about it. But let's be honest, I know you say nothing with the phone conversations. Unfortunately, Julius, there's multiple. There's such a hard core--." (113-12:04:25). He then made another admission, explaining that he agreed to the robbery only after Mr. Long suggested it. (18:13; App. 174).

The conversation continued on that theme. Mr. Coleman would identify some weakness in the case, the detective would remind him about other unfavorable

evidence, then Mr. Coleman would respond. Eventually, the conversation prompted Mr. Coleman to admit his guilt:

Det. Schumacher: What about the other two that are in

custody that are going to make a statement, I'm guessing pretty similar, that's going to coincide with the recordings. That's going to coincide with the actual fact that you showed up. I mean, I'm just

saying-

Mr. Coleman: I'm guilty about that. I'm going to

plead guilty.

(113-12:09:33).

After another 15 minutes of conversation, Mr. Coleman stormed out of the room, saying "Bring me back to my room. Man, I don't want to talk." (18:19; 113-12:24:00). After getting outside the interrogation room, he pretended to have a seizure and fell down until he was brought back to his cell. (81:16, 18).

#### Second Interrogation

Just over an hour later, Mr. Coleman and Detective Schumacher were back in the interrogation room, now accompanied by Detective John Milotzky. (113-13:26:40). Detective Schumacher confirmed that Mr. Coleman called her back to his cell, then hurriedly read Mr. Coleman his *Miranda* rights. (113-13:26:54). Mr. Coleman did not initially agree to make a statement,

Det. Schumacher: You understand these rights?

Mr. Coleman: Yes, ma'am

Det. Schumacher: Realizing you have these rights, you

want to make a statement, or answer

questions?

Mr. Coleman: Like as far as what?

Det. Schumacher: It's either yes or no, and then we'll

go from there.

(113-13:27:25). Mr. Coleman gave a response that cannot be discerned on the recording, but the statements that followed demonstrate it was not a statement that he wanted to answer questions:

Det. Schumacher: We can start over, but I'm not gonna

sit and bullshit for an hour again, and then [unintelligible]. It's just not

going to happen.

Det. Milotzky: This is your only chance to tell your

side of the story, man.

Mr. Coleman: OK.

Det. Milotzky: This is the one chance—you're

getting a second chance already, so you're gonna take this opportunity to get your side of the story out there, otherwise we'll go with what we got and we'll put you back in.

Mr. Coleman: OK.

Det. Schumacher: Do you understand these rights?

Mr. Coleman: Yes.

Det. Schumacher: Realizing you have these rights do

you want to make a statement or

answer questions.

Mr. Coleman: I'll answer questions.

Det. Schumacher: Is that a yes?

Mr. Coleman: Yes.

(113-13:27:53).

What followed was a long statement by Mr. Coleman, punctuated by a few questions or statements from the detectives. Mr. Coleman talked about meeting with the codefendants and his conversations with Mr. Long. (113-13:29:40, 13:36:45). He discussed when police stormed the car, and claimed he was on drugs when talking with Mr. Long about the robbery. (113-13:35:00, 13:37:15). After being prompted by Detective Schumacher, he admitted that he understood the wrongfulness of agreeing to participate in the crime and trying to involve others in it. (113-13:38:15). He continued to deny knowing who brought the gun, and claimed he was lying when he told Mr. Long he would bring a gun. (113-13:39:15, 13:46:00). He agreed to provide a DNA sample to check against the gun. (113-13:41:00). The interrogation ended when Detective Schumacher left the room (Detective Milotzky left a few minutes earlier), telling Mr. Coleman she was done dealing with his denials. (113-13:51:15).

#### Pretrial/Suppression

On June 14, 2011, the State filed a complaint charging Mr. Coleman with one count of conspiracy to commit armed robbery, one count of possessing a firearm as a felon, and two counts of misdemeanor bail jumping, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 939.31, 943.32(2), and 946.49(1)(a). (2).

Before trial, Mr. Coleman moved to suppress the statements he made at both of his interrogations. (11; 13). The

motion argued that the statements in the first interview had to be suppressed because he was never advised of his *Miranda* rights before being subjected to custodial interrogation, and the second interview had to be suppressed because it was tainted by the first, citing *Missouri v. Seibert*, 542 U.S. 600 (2004) as support.

The court held a hearing on the suppression motion at which Detective Schumacher testified. (81; App. 110). She testified that she had never been trained to interview a suspect without reading the *Miranda* rights, then attempt to obtain a second confession after giving the warnings. (81:4; App. 113). She testified that she interviewed him the morning and early afternoon after the arrest. (81:8; App. 117). She testified that Mr. Coleman immediately began asking questions about becoming an informant. (81:8, 28; App. 117, 137). She told him she would have to trust him to let him be an informant, but that she wanted to talk about the previous night. (81:12; App. 121). She testified that she did not ask Mr. Colman specific questions about the circumstances surrounding his arrest. (81:12; App. 121). She noted that before she could read him his rights, he was asking questions he had. (81:12; App. 121).

She did not believe that any of their conversation related to the events leading to the arrest. (81:13; App. 122). But on cross examination, she acknowledged a number of statements she made concerning the type and quality of the evidence the police had. (81:34-36; App. 143-44). He eventually became agitated, left the room, and pretended to have a seizure. (81:15-16; App. 124-25). She testified that Mr. Coleman never admitted to being a part of the conspiracy or possessing a firearm during the first interview. (81:18; App. 127). However, on cross examination, she recalled Mr.

Coleman saying he was guilty, and he would plead guilty. (81:42; App. 151).

She testified that shortly after the interview ended, Mr. Coleman started calling out from the jail cell that he wanted to talk again. (81:19-20; App. 128-29). About an hour after the first interview, they returned to the interrogation room, this time with Detective Milotzky, due to Mr. Coleman's erratic behavior at the end of the prior interview. (81:21; App. 130). She testified that Mr. Coleman waived his *Miranda* rights during this interview, then made a statement. (81:22-23; App. 131-32).

At the close of the hearing, defense counsel requested that the court review the first of the interrogations. (81:47; App. 156).

At a decisional hearing two weeks later, the court denied suppression after reviewing the interrogation disc. (82:6; App. 109). The court found that Mr. Coleman was clearly in custody, but that no interrogation took place during the first interview. (82:3-4; App. 106-07). After discussing how Mr. Coleman could get consideration for cooperating, "there was some talk that contained the offense, but towards the end of the—there was no admission, but then again, there was no questions—there was nothing that would indicate to the court that there was an interrogation at the time of the interview." (82:4; App. 107). The court then offered its ruling: "The bottom line is the court does not believe that there was an interrogation on the first interview and that during the course of the events on the second interview, the defendant was advised of his *Miranda* rights, understood those rights, and agreed to speak with the detective and gave a voluntary statement and was not coerced into doing do." (82:5; App. 108). Therefore, the court denied suppression.

#### Trial

At the trial that followed, the State called six witnesses. Corey Long, the informant, testified that he was helping police in exchange for consideration in an open drug case he was facing.<sup>5</sup> (89:72-75). He testified that he made up Poncho, and discussed robbing Poncho with Mr. Coleman. (89:75-77, 122-23). During his testimony, the State played recordings of his meetings and calls with Mr. Coleman. He testified that when he met with Mr. Coleman and the other two co-defendants, he saw Mr. Coleman get a gun from under the hood of his car. (89:109-10). He testified that he then drove the four of them to the area where the robbery was supposed to take place and got out of the car. (89:113).

Onterio Girley, one of the codefendants, testified that he entered into a plea agreement in exchange for his testimony. (90:7-8). He then testified that his attorney forced him to plead guilty, and that he made up a story about participating in an armed robbery to please the police. (90:12-13). He testified that he was with Mr. Coleman, Mr. Long, and the other codefendant, but denied seeing a gun or hearing any discussion about a robbery. (91:26). He testified that he made up his prior stories to help himself. (91:43).

Detective John Milotzky testified about prior inconsistent statements Mr. Girley made to him in the jail. He testified that Mr. Girley said he met with Mr. Long, Mr. Coleman, and the other co-defendant, and that Mr. Coleman said there was a gun in the car. (91:80-81). He testified that Mr. Girley said the codefendant and Mr. Long discussed robbing someone. (91:82).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Mr. Long has since been convicted of first degree intentional homicide in Milwaukee County Case No. 12-CF-6006.

Officer David Cefalu testified that he was the handler working with Mr. Long as an informant. (91:96-97). He arranged to record the conversations between Mr. Long and Mr. Coleman. (91:101). When Mr. Long met with the three defendants, he was conducting surveillance and saw Mr. Coleman retrieve something from under the hood of his car before getting in the van with Mr. Long to drive to the staged robbery. (91:127). He also testified about an interview he had with the third codefendant, where the codefendant admitted to participating in the planned robbery. (91:162-67).

Sergeant David Moldenhauer testified about the events immediately surrounding the arrest. He testified that 25 people from law enforcement were involved in the arrest. (92:29-30). He was at the site of the arrest with a "tactical team" of 15-16 officers, and the BearCat, an armored car designed for military use. (92:16). After Mr. Long got away from the van, the BearCat drove to the bumper of the van and they fired two flash-bang grenades at the car to disorient the three defendants. (92:19-20). Police ordered the men to show their hands because they could not see clearly into the van. (92:21). Police then shot out the windows of the van with rubber bullets to see inside the car. (92:21). The men then exited the van as instructed by police and they were arrested. (92:23-24). Detective Moldenhauer then identified a number of photos of the scene, including a picture of a gun that was found in the van. (92:25-27).

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