RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 07-15-2016

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2013AP2100-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JULIUS ALFONSO COLEMAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO SUPRESS EVIDENCE ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

JACOB J. WITTWER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041288

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

advanced by a plurality of the *Seibert* Court for determining the admissibility of statements made in a *Mirandized* interview conducted following an un-*Mirandized* interview, and to reject the subjective test favored by Justice Kennedy in his concurrence in *Seibert*. (Coleman's Br. 25-28.) Finally, he argues that, under either test, his statements in the second interview should have been suppressed, and asks this Court to vacate his conviction—without addressing what impact, if any, the trial court's alleged errors had on the outcome. (Coleman's Br. 28-33.)

The State agrees with Coleman that he was interrogated within the meaning of *Innis* during the un-*Mirandized* first interview, and therefore his statements therein should have been suppressed.

But regardless this error, and regardless any alleged error in admitting Coleman's statements from his second, *Mirandized* interview, the denial of suppression of these statements was plainly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. As developed below, what was presented to the jury from the interviews came in through the interviewing detective's brief testimony. (93:39-60, A-App. 181-202.) Critically, the detective testified that, in the interviews, Coleman consistently *denied* possessing the gun (93:57-58, A-App. 199-200)—and the only crimes Coleman was ultimately found guilty of stemmed from his possession of the gun (34; 35, A-App. 101, 103).

Finally, even if the absence of harm from the court's alleged errors were somehow not dispositive, Coleman would not be entitled to relief for the reasons developed below.

I. The trial court's error in denying suppression of the statements from the first interview, and any alleged error in denying suppression of statements from the second interview, were harmless.

A. Background.

In June 2011, the State charged Julius Alfonso Coleman with conspiracy to commit armed robbery, felon in possession of a firearm, and two counts of bail jumping for committing these crimes while on bond. (2:1-6.) In the criminal complaint, the State alleged that, in a series of phone conversations recorded in May and June 2011 with an informant, Coleman agreed to rob a drug dealer named Poncho. (2:2-4.) Poncho was fictitious, a target created by the informant to give Coleman someone to rob. (89:122.) Coleman told the informant that he owned several guns, and described how he might use them in the robbery. (2:3.)

On June 9, 2011, Coleman drove two associates in his car to meet the informant, who was parked in a vehicle. (2:4.) The informant saw Coleman holding a gun after he got out of the car. (2:4.) Coleman and his associates got in the informant's vehicle, and drove to a parking lot to a location predetermined by the informant's police handlers. (2:4.) The informant then stepped out of the vehicle to "check on Poncho," and officers arrested Coleman and his associates. (2:4; 89:114-15.)

The next day, Detective Robin Schumacher interviewed Coleman for a little over an hour at the Wauwatosa Police Station. (18:1, 19, A-App. 162, 180.) During this first interview, Coleman admitted that he had had the conversations with the informant, and that he had taken steps to carry out the planned robbery. (18:6, A-App. 167; 113-11:43:35—"You guys got me. Got my phone

conversation.") (113-12:09:33—stating "I'm guilty about that. I'm going to plead guilty," in response to the detective stating that he showed up at the scene, and that his associates would likely give statements consistent with Coleman's recorded conversations with the informant). At another point, he appeared to admit that he agreed to commit a robbery, but said that it had been the informant's idea. (18:13, A-App. 174.) Coleman repeatedly denied possessing the gun. (18:10-11, 13-15, 19, A-App. 171-72, 174-76, 180.)

The interview ended abruptly when Coleman rushed out of the room, stating: "Bring me back to my room! Man! I don't want to talk!" (18:19, A-App. 180; 113-13:12:24:00.)

About an hour later, Coleman asked to talk with the detective again, and Colman met with her and Detective John Milotzky² in the interview room. (93:48, 57, A-App. 190-99.) Detective Schumacher read Coleman the *Miranda* warnings, and Coleman expressly agreed to answer questions. (113-13:27:53.)

As Coleman notes, he then gave a rambling statement to the detectives that was interrupted sporadically by questions from the detectives. Coleman made some inculpatory statements regarding the conspiracy to commit armed robbery charge, *see* Coleman's Br. 9, but once again denied bringing the gun, and gave consent to provide a DNA sample to use in testing the gun. (113-13:39:15, 13:41:00.)

Before trial, Coleman moved to suppress his statements made in the two interviews, citing *Seibert*. (13:1-

4

-

² Detective Milotzky testified at trial, but was not asked questions about Coleman's statements in the interview. (91:75-94.)

5.) At an evidentiary hearing on the motion, Detective Schumacher indicated that she had not been trained to conduct a two-interview interrogation in which a confession is obtained during the first, un-*Mirandized* interview, and then repeated during a *Mirandized* second interview. (81:4, A-App. 113.)

At a decision conference two weeks later, the court denied the suppression motion, allowing the State to use Coleman's statements in both interviews. (82:4, A-App. 165.)

But, at trial, the State elected not to play the recordings of the custodial interviews or to present transcripts of the interviews. Rather, the little that was presented from Coleman's interviews came in through Detective Schumacher's testimony, as discussed in the next section. (93:39-60, A-App. 181-202.)

The State's case relied heavily on the recordings of Coleman's conversations with the informant, and the informant's testimony. (89:72-176.) In addition to providing lengthy testimony relevant to the robbery charge, the informant testified that Coleman discussed having guns, and using them during the robbery. (89:93-94.) The informant also said he saw Coleman retrieve a gun from the engine compartment of his car. (89:109-110.) The State also presented testimony from Officer David Cefalu, the informant's handler who, with Detective Schumacher, witnessed Coleman retrieve something from under the hood of his car while conducting surveillance. (91:127; 93:44-45, A-App. 186-87.) Sergeant David Moldenhauer testified that a gun was found in the vehicle at the scene, and identified it at trial. (93:24-25.)

The jury found Coleman guilty of felon in possession of a firearm and bail jumping for committing the gun crime while on bond, but deadlocked on the conspiracy to commit armed robbery and the bail jumping charge associated with committing that offense. (34; 35, A-App. 101-103; 95:12-13.)

Coleman appealed his conviction, and appointed counsel Susan Marie Roth filed a no-merit report and sought to withdraw as appellate counsel. (R-App. 101.) In a February 4, 2015 order, this Court rejected the no-merit report and converted the case to a merits appeal. (R-App. 102.) This Court determined that there was arguable merit to a claim that Coleman's statements in the two interviews should have been suppressed. (R-App. 105) This Court indicated there was arguable merit to a claim that the statements from the first interview should have been suppressed because it was an un-Mirandized custodial interrogation. (R-App. 105.) Likewise, in this Court's view, there was arguable merit to a claim that the Mirandized second interview should have also been suppressed, citing Seibert. (R-App. 105.) The order did not address whether any error in denying suppression was harmless. (R-App. 101-106.)

B. The trial court erred in denying suppression of Coleman's statements made during the un-*Mirandized* first interview.

Police must read *Miranda* warnings to any suspect who is in custody and subject to interrogation if the suspect's statements are to be admissible in court. *See State v. Mitchell*, 167 Wis. 2d 672, 686, 482 N.W.2d 364 (1992). Interrogation includes conduct or words of the officer that are the "functional equivalent" of interrogation. *Innis*, 446 U.S. at 300-01 (1980). The test for determining whether an interrogation occurred is "whether an objective observer could foresee that the officer's conduct or words would elicit

an incriminating response." *State v. Cunningham*, 144 Wis. 2d 272, 278, 423 N.W.2d 862 (1988).

At the decision conference on Coleman's motion to suppress the interview statements, the circuit court denied the motion upon declaring that "there was nothing that would indicate there was an interrogation at the time of the interview." (82:4, A-App. 107.)

Coleman argues that the trial court erred in determining that he was not subject to interrogation in the first interview. The State agrees with Coleman. Though the included much interview discussion about Coleman becoming an informant, and the assistance he would need to provide police to receive consideration in this case (see esp. 18:2-9, A-App. 163-170), the detective also statements—for example, asserting that Coleman was not being fully truthful and urging him to tell the whole truth (18:8, 16-19, A-App. 169 177-180)—that would reasonably elicit an incriminating response. At one point, the detective directly asked Coleman if there were additional guns in the impounded car when discussing whether the car would be returned. (18:8, A-App. 169.)

Accordingly, the trial court should have suppressed Coleman's statements made in the un-*Mirandized* first interview.

C. Despite this error, and despite any alleged error in admitting statements from the *Mirandized* second interview, Coleman is not entitled to relief because the error and alleged error were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Coleman next maintains that his statements from the second *Mirandized* interview should have been suppressed as an illegal extension of the unwarned first interview (Coleman's Br. 21-33.) While asserting this alleged error entitles him to reversal of his conviction, Coleman does not explain how the error affected the verdict, even though an order denying a motion to suppress is plainly subject to harmless error review. *See State v. Moore*, 2015 WI 54, ¶ 92, 363 Wis. 2d 376, 864 N.W.2d 827.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court addressed the standard for determining harmless error as follows:

The court has formulated the test for harmless or prejudicial error in a variety of ways. The United States Supreme Court set forth a test for harmless error in *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18 (1967), *reh'g denied*, 386 U.S. 987 (1967). Under *Chapman*, the error is harmless if the beneficiary of the error proves "beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained."

"In recent years, the United States Supreme Court and this court, while adhering to the *Chapman* test, have also articulated alternative wording. *See, e.g., Neder v. United States,* 527 U.S. 1, 2-3 (1999); *State v. Weed,* 2003 WI 85, ¶ 29, 263 Wis. 2d 434, 666 N.W.2d 485; *State v. Harvey,* 2002 WI 93, ¶ 48, n.14, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189." The *Neder/Harvey* test for harmless error asks whether it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error."

State v. Anderson, 2006 WI 77, ¶¶ 114-15, 291 Wis. 2d 673, 717 N.W.2d 74 (footnotes omitted), overruled on other grounds by State v. Alexander, 2013 WI 70, ¶¶ 26-29, 349 Wis. 2d 327, 833 N.W.2d 126.

Under the standard above, the trial record demonstrates that the trial court's error and alleged error in denying suppression of Coleman's statements in the first and second interviews were plainly harmless.

As noted, the jury was not shown the video recording of the interviews, or provided transcripts of the interviews at trial. (See 93:39-60, A-App. 181-202.) The limited portions of Coleman's statements that were presented to the jury came in through Detective Schumacher's trial testimony, which totaled five pages on direct examination. (93:47-51, A-App. 189-193.) And most of Coleman's inculpatory statements conveyed in that testimony concerned the conspiracy to commit the robbery (see 93:49-51, A-App. 191-93), the charge (along with the bail jumping charge associated with the robbery) on which the jury deadlocked.

As for evidence pertinent to the crimes for which the jury did find Coleman guilty—felon in possession of a firearm and bail jumping for committing the gun crime while on bond—the detective testified on cross examination that, throughout the interview, Coleman *denied* possessing the gun. (93:57-58, A-App. 199-200). And while the detective also testified that Coleman admitted telling the informant on the phone that he was bringing a gun to the robbery (93:50, A-App. 192), this testimony was cumulative. That is because the recordings of Coleman's phone conversations with the

informant had already been played for the jury,³ including one in which Coleman said he had several guns, and that he would "merk"—the informant testified this meant "kill"—Poncho if Poncho saw Coleman during the robbery (89:93-94).

The detective also testified that Coleman admitted in the second interview that there was a gun in the car, but he would not say who brought it. (93:50, A-App. 192.) The inculpatory value of this statement is also limited because the jury was already presented evidence that the police had recovered a gun from the vehicle at the scene. (93:24-25.)

On the whole, the detective's testimony about Coleman's statements pertaining to the gun charges was arguably more helpful than harmful to Coleman. Coleman did not testify at trial, and the testimony about his interview statements put his denials about having possessed the gun squarely before the jury. At any rate, proof of Coleman's possession of the firearm was established not by the testimony about the interviews, but by the following evidence: (1) the informant's testimony that he saw Coleman raise the hood of his car and pull a gun from the engine compartment and put it into his waistband (89:109-110); (2) testimony of Detective Schumacher, and identical testimony by Officer Cefalu, that they saw Coleman pull something out from under the hood of his car (91:127; 93:44-45, A-App. 186-87); (3) Coleman's recorded conversations with the informant

-

³ The Milwaukee County Circuit Court did not include the CD with these recordings, or any other trial exhibits, in the record on appeal, and Coleman did not seek to add the exhibits to the record. Nonetheless, because the informant appears to have restated in his testimony the content of the recording excerpts played for the jury (see 89:78-108), the absence of the recordings from the record should not affect this court's review.

about the having several guns, and his willingness to use the guns in the robbery, and the informant's testimony about this as well; and (4) the recovery of the gun from the van at the scene (93:24-25).

For these reasons, this Court should conclude the trial court's error and alleged error in denying suppression of statements from the first and second interviews were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, and affirm the judgment of conviction.

II. Even if the absence of harm resulting from the court's error and alleged error were somehow not dispositive, Coleman would not be entitled to relief because the trial court properly admitted his statements in the second, *Mirandized* interview.

Because the error and alleged error in denying suppression of the first and second interviews were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, this Court need not address the merits of Coleman's claim. *Md. Arms Ltd. P'ship v. Connell*, 2010 WI 64, ¶ 48, 326 Wis.2d 300, 786 N.W.2d 15 ("[A]n appellate court should decide cases on the narrowest possible grounds.") (citation omitted).

Nonetheless, for the sake of completeness, the State addresses the merits, and submits that this case is controlled by *Oregon v. Elstad*, 470 U.S. 298 (1985), not the plurality opinion in *Seibert*.⁴

 $(footnote\ continued)$

⁴ Coleman does not argue that denial of suppression of the un-Mirandized first statement only entitles him to reversal of his conviction. By not making this argument, Coleman appears to concede that the court's error in denying suppression of statements from the first interview was harmless. The State agrees. Detective Schumacher's testimony on direct examination

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